

Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 18 (2007) 693-700

Tetrahedron: Asymmetry

Tetrahedron: Asymmetry report number 94

Organocatalytic enantioselective multicomponent reactions (OEMCRs)

Gabriela Guillena, Diego J. Ramón* and Miguel Yus*

Instituto de Síntesis Orgánica (ISO) and Departamento de Química Orgánica, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de Alicante, Apdo. 99, E-03080-Alicante, Spain

Received 1 March 2007; accepted 2 March 2007

Abstract—The achieved level of expertise in organocatalytic processes has allowed synthetic chemists to apply this useful synthetic strategy to enantioselective multicomponent reactions. Although, this new methodology is still in its infancy, the reported results show the possibilities and versatility of this type of reaction, with an extraordinary level of atom efficiency being reached. All examples, from classical Mannich, Biginelli, Michael, and Diels—Alder reactions to new amination—reduction and Tietze reactions, allow the synthesis of complex chiral molecules with several stereogenic elements created in just one process. In fact, the organocatalyst acts in this type of process as a clear enzyme mimic, but with an ample substrate scope.

© 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction and definitions	693
2.	Mannich multicomponent reactions	694
	2.1. Ketones as source of nucleophile	694
	2.2. Aldehydes as source of nucleophile	695
3.	Amino-reductive multicomponent processes	696
4.	Biginelli multicomponent reactions	696
	Tietze multicomponent reactions	
	Aza-Diels–Alder multicomponent reactions	
	Michael-type multicomponent processes	
	Amination-aldol processes	
9.	Conclusions and perspectives.	698
	Acknowledgments	698
	References	

1. Introduction and definitions

Chirality nowadays plays a major role in almost all chemical fields. The interest of the pharmaceutical and agrochemical industries in chiral products has prompted the intensive search for more efficient methods of synthesis.

The development of enantioselective methods has allowed high levels of atom efficiency in transformations to be reached.² In the pursuit of more efficient protocols for synthesis, multicomponent reactions³ should be regarded as a suitable option. In such a process, the time consuming isolation and purification of synthetic intermediates disappears and, in general, the energy, solvents, manipulations and, therefore, cost are reduced, compared to other one-pot synthetic methods, such as domino,⁴ tandem⁵ or cascade⁶ transformations.⁷ Moreover, the old idea that the

^{*} Corresponding authors. Tel.: +35 965 90 35 48; fax: +35 965 90 35 49; e-mail addresses: djramon@ua.es; yus@ua.es

presence of an extra reagent could have a detrimental effect on the level of enantioselectivity (or diastereoselectivity) is not in agreement with our current knowledge of this type of reaction. 3c,f

In the area of catalytic enantioselective transformations, the use of a so-called organocatalyst (small organic molecules) has become a revolution in this century.^{8,9} These metal-free processes, excluding silicon and boron derivatives not only from catalyst partner but also from the reagents, have shown their utility and advantages, namely, stability and availability of the catalysts, less demanding reaction conditions, reduced toxicity of reagents and products, and suppression of protection—deprotection steps.

Unsurprisingly, the marriage of both aforementioned concepts has led to an important batch of examples, which will be presented in this overview, reaching a formidable level of efficiency. Firstly, a clear definition of this new synthetic method should be formulated to prevent confusion with other related one-pot organocatalyzed processes. Thus, an organocatalytic enantioselective multicomponent reaction (OEMCR) is a reaction between three or more achiral reagents in a single vessel, which have been added at the same time (or nearly), in the presence of a substoichiometric amount of a chiral organic compound, which forms a new chiral product containing portions of all reagents, with the reagents and the catalysts being small molecules containing only C, H, N, O, P, S, and halogen atoms.

According to this strict definition, all reactions using enzymes, antibodies, even in some extent polymers and, of course, organometallics are excluded. Reactions where any reagent or catalyst has a silicon atom should be excluded. Reactions where the silyl group has only a steric role will however be included in this overview.

Finally it should be noted that, according to the clearest classification,⁷ the multicomponent reactions described here are tandem processes since in all cases two differentiated cycles can be drawn and the connection between them is always products and not reaction intermediates. It is clear for us that tandem etymology does not fit exactly to the definition of these processes, but it is the usually employed word.

2. Mannich multicomponent reactions

The classic Mannich reaction is an aminoalkylation of carbonylic compounds involving ammonia (or an amine derivative), a non-enolizable aldehyde (source of electrophile) and an enolizable carbonyl compound (source of nucleophile). From a modern viewpoint, the potential application of this reaction is rather modest (limited range of application, undesired by-products, unsatisfactory regio- and stereocontrol, etc.). However, the exceptional attractiveness of the final products makes the challenge of overcoming these initial drawbacks worthwhile.¹¹

2.1. Ketones as source of nucleophile

The first OEMCR was reported at the beginning of this century, it being an example of a Mannich reaction.¹² The catalyst chosen for this pioneering work was proline 4, using different ketones 1, such as acetone and α -hydroxyacetone as a source of the nucleophile, aniline derivatives 3 and aldehydes 2 as the source of the electrophile (Scheme 1). The nature of the aldehyde has some influence on the results, with the chemical yields being lower for aromatic aldehydes, while maintaining the high enantioselectivity (up to 99%). A correlation between the Hammett σ_p -values and the enantioselectivity for 4-substituted aldehydes suggested a negative charge formation in the enantioselective-determining step. 13 The proposed transition state is formed by the in situ generated imine (arising from the condensation of aldehyde and aniline derivative) and the enamine resulting from the reaction of ketone 1 with organocatalyst 4. The approach of both reagents is governed by steric repulsion between both the aniline and pyrrolidine moieties, as well as by the formation of a hydrogen bond between the iminic nitrogen atom and the carboxylic group. The formation of this transition state was corroborated by DFT-calculations, explaining also the preferential syn-diastereoselectivity. 14 However, the presence of an important autocatalytic effect draws a more complicated picture of a possible catalytic cycle.¹⁵

Scheme 1.

The scope of this multicomponent reaction has been studied further using other different ketones 1, such as unsymmetrical ketones 16 and diverse protected dihydroxyacetone derivatives. 17 Although the aldol reaction could compete with the formation of compounds 5, it is worthy to note

that Mannich compounds **5** were obtained with a very high regio-, diastereo- and enantioselectivity. Different aldehydes **2**, such as branched and linear aliphatic ones, formaldehyde^{17c,18} and ethyl glyoxylate¹⁷ were also used successfully. Instead of *p*-anisidine **3**, other aniline derivatives can be used to obtain similar results. However, due to the possibility of an easy removal of the *p*-methoxyphenyl protecting group, aniline **3** is the ideal partner, although for some concrete examples the deprotection step is not so easy.

The only drawback of this reaction is the low chemical yield in certain examples, as well as the long reaction times. In order to improve these aspects several new reaction conditions have been tested. Thus, the replacement of a typical organic media by an ionic liquid, ¹⁹ such as *N*-butyl-*N'*-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate ([bmim]BF₄) increased the reaction rate by 4–50 times, probably owing to the imine activation by the solvent, maintaining the aforementioned diastereo- and enantioselectivity.

The pressure in the reaction was expected to have a great impact, since the activation volume of this multicomponent reaction is negative. In fact, when the reaction was performed under high pressure induced by water-freezing conditions ($\approx 200 \text{ MPa}$) at $-20 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$, the yields and enantioselectivities were improved. Furthermore, electron-rich aromatic aldehydes 2 could be used for the first time.

The use of microwave (15 W) or conventional oil bath heating (75–77 °C) also increased the reaction rates, allowing the reaction to be performed under very low catalyst loading (4, 0.5 mol %). Finally, it should be noted that the use of ultrasound conditions also had a beneficial effect on the reaction rates. ²²

Proline 4 is not the only suitable catalyst for this multicomponent Mannich reaction but other small organic molecules have been proposed as an alternative. In the early stage of this reaction, thiazoline derivative 6 was used as a catalyst, affording slightly lower results than compound 4 (38–58%, ee 50–89%). Conversely, catalyst 7 gave similar results to those obtained using proline (70–98%, ee 81–96%), with an interesting enhancement on the reaction rate due to its higher solubility. ²⁴

Simple acyclic amino acids such as alanine 8 and its tetrazole derivative 9 have been successfully employed, to give the best results when cyclic ketones 1 were used, and in the presence of one equivalent of dicyclohexyl amine.²⁵

The proline tetrazole derivative 10 catalyzed the multicomponent Mannich reaction using azido ketones as a source of the nucleophile $(1: X = N_3)$. The results obtained ranged

from good to excellent depending on the nature of aldehyde **2** used and were attributed to the high solubility of the catalyst.²⁶ However, the very soluble roof-shaped antracene-fused chiral proline derivative **11** did not improve upon the previous results obtained with proline.²⁷

The high *syn*-diastereoselectivity found for all catalysts presented could be changed to *anti* just by the use of the amino acid derivatives **12** and **13**. This fact was rationalized on the basis that this primary amine catalyst forms the corresponding *Z*-enamine when reacted with α -hydroxy ketones (instead of the *E*-enamine represented in Scheme 1). The reaction provided the corresponding products *anti-5* with high yields, diastereoselectivities (up to 98%) and good to excellent enantioselectivities (53–98%), with the reaction catalyzed by compound **13** being faster than by **12**. ²⁸

2.2. Aldehydes as source of nucleophile

The multicomponent Mannich reaction using aliphatic aldehydes **14** as a source of the nucleophiles and aromatic aldehydes **15** as electrophiles were simultaneously published by different groups using proline **4** as a catalyst (Scheme 2).²⁹

Scheme 2.

The very strict control of the temperature (below 4 °C) was compulsory in order to avoid the undesired aldol reaction, as well as the sequential in situ reduction of aldehyde formed to the corresponding primary alcohol (by adding

NaBH₄), in order to prevent the epimerization and racemization process during the isolation and purification steps. Under these reaction conditions, the corresponding 3-amino primary alcohols **16** could be obtained with very high yields, diastereo- and enantioselectivities. A further study expanded upon the range of possible electrophiles used to hetereoaromatic aldehydes and glyoxylate, as well as nucleophiles to long chain aldehydes bearing carbon–carbon double bonds and α -hydroxy aldehydes.³⁰

The usefulness of the former reaction has been exemplified by the synthesis of the N-terminal amino acid moiety of nikkomycis B and B_x , a nucleoside peptite antibiotic isolated from the culture broth of $Stremptomyces\ tendae$, and different imino sugar derivatives through a sequential multicomponent Mannich reaction followed by a Horner–Wittig–Emmons reaction with the in situ formed aldehyde instead of the reduction with NaBH₄. 32

3. Amino-reductive multicomponent processes

The enantioselective amino reductive³³ multicomponent reaction has been performed successfully using the chiral Brønsted acid 19a (R = SiPh₃ in Scheme 3).

Scheme 3.

The reaction of different methyl ketones with p-anisidine and the Hanztsch ester 17 ($R^1 = Et$) gave the expected chiral α -branched secondary amine 20 with excellent results. In order to obtain these results, the amount of water should be controlled strictly by the addition of 5 Å molecular sieves, since the presence of water has a negative effect on the iminium formation, and in the further hydride reduction. The scope of the ketone component is very broad, admitting substituted aryl and alkyl derivatives, even permitting the discrimination between methyl carbonyl moieties from other alkyl carbonyl ones.

The aforementioned reaction has been further expanded to the dynamic kinetic resolution of enolizable α -branched

aldehydes. In this case, the final β -branched secondary amine could be obtained with good chemical yield and enantioselectivities, independently of the electronic nature of the starting aldehyde when the chiral BINOL-phosphoric derivative **19b** [R = 2,4,6-(*i*Pr)₃C₆H₂] was used as chiral organocatalyst.³⁵

4. Biginelli multicomponent reactions

The Biginelli dihydropyrimidine synthesis consists of the condensation of urea, an aldehyde and a 1,3-ketoester. The accepted mechanism involves the condensation of urea with the aldehyde to yield the corresponding iminium intermediate, which is then trapped by an aldol-type reaction with the enol derived from the ketoester.³⁶ The chiral BI-NOL-phosphoric derivative 19c (R = Ph) has also been shown to be an excellent organocatalyst for also the classical Biginelli multicomponent reaction, which permitted the synthesis of chiral polyfunctionalized 3,4-dihydropyrimidin-2-(1H)-ones 23 (Scheme 4).³⁷ Electron rich and poor aromatic aldehydes and less reactive aliphatic aldehydes, as well as different 1,3-ketoesters underwent the reaction with excellent enantiomeric excess, providing access to an ample scope of pharmaceutically interesting products 23 without any transition metal contamination.

Scheme 4.

5. Tietze multicomponent reactions

The Tietze multicomponent reaction (Knoevenagel/Diels–Alder process) between Meldrum's acid **24**, aldehydes **2** and α,β -unsaturated methyl ketones **25** catalyzed by the thiazoline derivative **6** gave spirolactones **26** (Scheme 5). ³⁸ The reaction rates obtained, yields and enantioselectivities were better in protic solvents, such as methanol, probably owing to the enhanced stabilization of charged intermediates and the more facile proton-transfer reactions. The scope of the reaction has been extended to other 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds, ³⁹ and even the α,β -unsaturated ketone could be prepared in situ through a Wittig reaction, ⁴⁰ previously to the one-pot multicomponent process, with the whole sequential processes giving the same results as the previous multicomponent reaction.

Scheme 5.

6. Aza-Diels-Alder multicomponent reactions

The formal aza-Dields-Alder multicomponent reaction was initially performed using proline $\bf 4$ and formaldehyde (R = H in $\bf 2$) to give bicyclic compounds $\bf 29$ with excellent enantioselectivities (Scheme 6), not only with cyclohexenone but also with other cyclic enones.

Scheme 6.

The scope of aldehydes was further enlarged to aromatic aldehydes by the use of chiral phosphoric derivative **28**, to give good enantioselectivities, and diastereomeric ratios never higher than 70%. The outcome of the reaction was explained on the basis of a Mannich reaction of the enamine (enol) of the cyclic ketone (see Scheme 1), followed by a Michael type addition to form the new ring in the final compound **29**.

7. Michael-type multicomponent processes

The nucleophilic 1,4-addition to electron-poor olefins, generally α,β -unsaturated carbonylic compounds, is known as the Michael addition, although it was first reported by Komnenos.⁴³ The usual enantioselective version of this reaction could employ a sequential process.⁴⁴ In recent years, different sequences of reaction highlighted the possibility of using an organocatalytic enantioselective multicomponent process. The first example of Michael-type multicomponent reaction was performed by an aldol

reaction of benzaldehyde **15a** with acetone **1a** to give the corresponding benzylidenacetone, which suffered the 1,4-addition of diethyl malonate in the presence of substoichiometric amounts of proline amine derivative **31** (Scheme 7). The final product **32** was obtained with moderate results but it opened the field to this type of reactions.⁴⁵

Scheme 7.

More interesting is the Michael-type multicomponent process outlined in Scheme 8.⁴⁶ The success of the reaction was based in the formation of a chiral iminium derivative between aldehyde 35a and catalyst 36, which is an active electrophilic agent able to react with electron-rich heteroaromatic compounds 33 to form the corresponding chiral enamine intermediate. This intermediate is in situ trapped by the chlorinating agent 34, yielding the highly functionalized compounds 37 with excellent levels of diastereo- and enantioselectivity. Instead of using electron-rich heteroaromatic compounds 33, as the initial nucleophiles, other nucleophiles could be used, such as Hanztsch ester 17.

Scheme 8.

Based on this strategy, the addition of aliphatic thiol derivatives (nucleophiles) to different α,β -unsaturated aldehydes

of type **35** and subsequent amination of the enamine intermediate with azodicarboxylates gave access to 1,2-aminosulfanyl aldehydes with diastereomeric excess up to 98% and enantioselectivities up to 99%.⁴⁷ In this case, the organocatalyst used was the prolinol derivative **38a**, the addition of substoichiometric amounts of a carboxylic acid, as well as the control of temperature, being mandatory in order to prevent the racemization processes and to increase the reaction rates.

A more complicated sequence of chiral iminium-enamine formation permitted the construction of cyclohexane carbaldehdyes 40 (Scheme 9).⁴⁸ In this process, the more electrophilic reactive nitroalkene 39 reacts with the chiral enamine, formed in situ by the reaction of the prolinol derivative 38b with aldehyde 14, to give the expected Michael type product. The α,β -unsaturated aldehyde 35 reacts with the liberated prolinol to give a new chiral Michael acceptor, which in turn suffers a new Michael addition by the previously formed nitro alkane. A final intramolecular aldol condensation and dehydration gives the corresponding cyclic compound 40. The results obtained could not be improved upon, since from 16 possible stereoisomers, only two were obtained, in all cases with good diastereoselectivities (68-89%; the epimerization occurred on the carbon bearing the nitro functionality) and enantioselectivities (99%).

$$R^{1}$$
 H H R^{2} NO_{2} H R^{3} H R^{3} R^{3} NO_{2} NO_{2}

Scheme 9.

This multicomponent reaction, followed by an intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction (R¹ = dienyl moieties) has been successfully applied to the synthesis of functionalized decahydroacenaphthylene and decahydrophenalene derivatives, which are typical units of diterpenoid natural products.⁴⁹

8. Amination-aldol processes

Finally a multicomponent reaction between acetone 1a, aldehydes 14 and azodicarboxylates 41 catalyzed by sub-

stoichiometric amounts of proline 4 yielded a $\approx 1:1$ mixture of the corresponding diastereoisomers 42 (Scheme 10). The success of the reaction can be attributed to the higher reactivity of aldehydes over acetone (about 100-fold). The disappointing diastereomeric ratio was attributed to the easy and fast racemization of the initial α -amino aldehyde formed, compared to its reaction with acetone.

Scheme 10.

9. Conclusions and perspectives

The aforementioned highly efficient processes show that organocatalytic enantioselective multicomponent reactions are a very promising chemical strategy of synthesis, which allows the rapid access to chiral structurally complex molecules, starting from simple, readily available precursors, mimicking biological systems and using environmentally friendly reaction conditions. Moreover, the use of small, robust and easy prepared organic molecules as catalyst is an unforgettable advantage.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the Spanish Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia, as well as to Generalitat Valenciana, for their continuous financial support.

References

- (a) Stereoselective Synthesis (Houben-Weyl); Helmchen, G., Hoffman, R. W., Mulzer, J., Eds.; Thieme: Stuttgart, 1996; Vols. 1–10; (b) Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysis; Jacobsen, E. N., Pfaltz, A., Yamamoto, H., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, 1999; Vols. 1–3; (c) Comprehensive Asymmetric Catalysis; Jacobsen, E. N., Pfaltz, A., Yamamoto, H., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, 2004, Suppl. 1–2; (d) Asymmetric Catalysis on Industrial Scale—Challenges, Approaches and Solutions; Blaser, H. U., Schmidt, E., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2004; (e) Chirality in Drug Research; Francotte, E., Lindner, W., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2006.
- (a) Trost, B. M. Science 1991, 254, 1471–1477; (b) Sheldon, R. A. Pure Appl. Chem. 2000, 72, 1233–1246; (c) Trost, B. M. Acc. Chem. Res. 2002, 35, 695–705; (d) Trost, B. M.; Frederiksen, M. U.; Mathias, U.; Rudd, M. T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 6630–6666; (e) Guillena, G.;

- Ramón, D. J.; Yus, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, doi:10.1002/anie.200603794.
- For very recent reviews, see: (a) Multicomponent Reactions; Zhu, J., Bienaymé, H., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2005; (b) Wessjohann, L. A.; Ruijter, E. Mol. Diversity 2005, 9, 159–169; (c) Ramón, D. J.; Yus, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 1602–1634; (d) Nair, V.; Menon, R. S.; Sreekumar, V. Pure Appl. Chem. 2005, 77, 1191–1198; (e) Dömling, A. Chem. Rev. 2006, 106, 17–89; (f) Dondoni, A.; Massi, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2006, 39, 451–463; (g) Mironov, M. A. QSAR Comb. Sci. 2006, 25, 423–431; (h) Lieby-Muller, F.; Simon, C.; Constantieux, T.; Rodriguez, J. QSAR Comb. Sci. 2006, 25, 432–438.
- (a) Tietze, L. F.; Beifuss, U. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 131–163; (b) Tietze, L. F. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 115–136; (c) Tietze, L. F.; Rackelmann, N. Pure Appl. Chem. 2004, 76, 1967–1983; (d) de Meijere, A.; von Zezschwitz, P.; Bräse, S. Acc. Chem. Res. 2005, 38, 413–422; (e) Tejedor, D.; González-Cruz, D.; Santos-Exposito, A.; Marrero-Tellado, J. J.; de Armas, P.; García-Tellado, F. Chem. Eur. J. 2005, 11, 3502–3510; (f) Pellissier, H. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 1619–1665; (g) Pellissier, H. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 2143–2173.
- (a) Ho, T.-L. Tandem Organic Reaction; Wiley: New York, 1992; (b) Pearson, P. J.; Penkett, C. S.; Shell, A. J. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 115–136; (c) Balme, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 6238–6241; (d) Padwa, A. Pure Appl. Chem. 2004, 76, 1933–1952; (e) Wasilke, J.-C.; Obrey, S. J.; Baker, R. T.; Bazan, G. C. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 1001–1020; (f) Guo, H.-C.; Ma, J.-A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 354–366; (g) Lautens, M.; Alberico, D.; Bressy, C.; Fang, Y.-Q.; Mariampillai, B.; Wilhelm, T. Pure Appl. Chem. 2006, 78, 351–361.
- (a) Hoffmann, H. M. R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 1332–1334; (b) Wang, K. K. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 207–222; (c) Padwa, A.; Weingarten, M. D. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 223–269; (d) Veum, L.; Hanefeld, U. Chem. Commun. 2006, 825–831; (e) Balme, G.; Bouyssi, D.; Monteiro, N. Pure Appl. Chem. 2006, 78, 231–239; (f) Ihara, M. ARKIVOC 2006, vii, 416–438; (g) Nicolaou, K. C.; Edmonds, D. J.; Bulger, P. G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 7134–7186.
- For a clear differentiation between domino, tandem and cascade transformations, see: (a) Fogg, D. E.; dos Santos, E. N. Coord. Chem. Rev. 2004, 248, 2365–2379; (b) Chapman, C. J.; Frost, C. G. Synthesis 2007, 1–21.
- 8. For reviews covering different aspects on this topic, see: (a) Dalko, P. I.; Moisan, L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 3726-3748; (b) List, B. Synlett 2001, 1675-1686; (c) Jarvo, E. R.; Miller, S. J. Tetrahedron 2002, 58, 2481–2495; (d) Benaglia, M.; Puglivi, A.; Cozzi, F. Chem. Rev. 2003, 103, 3401-3430; (e) Houk, K. N., List, B., Eds. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 487-631; (f) Pihko, P. M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 2062-2064; (g) Dalko, P. I.; Moisan, L. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 5138-5175; (h) Berkessel, A.; Gröger, H. Asymmetric Organocatalysis-From Biomimetic Concepts to Applications in Asymmetric Synthesis; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2005; (i) Seavad, J.; List, B. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2005, 3, 719–724; (j) Lelais, G.; McMillan, D. W. C. Aldrichim. Acta 2006, 39, 79-87; (k) Taylor, M. S.; Jacobsen, E. N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 1520-1543; (1) List, B. Chem. Commun. 2006, 819-824; (m) Wessig, P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 2168–2171; (n) Connon, S. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3909-3912; (o) Marigo, M.; Jørgensen, K. A. Chem. Commun. 2006, 2001-2011; (p) Connon, S. J. Chem. Eur. J. 2006, 12, 5418-5427; (q) Guillena, G.; Ramón, D. J. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 1465–1492; (r) Palomo, C.; Mielgo, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 7876-7880; (s) Gaunt, M. J.; Johansonn, C. C. C.; McNally, A.; Vo, N. T. Drug Discovery Today 2007, 12, 8-27.

- 9. During the preparation of this paper, two reviews have appeared, dealing with the marriage of organocatalysis with either cascade or domino processes: (a) Rueping, M. *Nachr. Chem.* **2007**, *55*, 35–37; (b) Enders, D.; Grondal, C.; Hüttl, M. R. M. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 1570–1581.
- 10. One of the typical mistakes in this field is to assign a multicomponent reaction to an actual one-pot sequential process, in which two reagents are allowed to react for a certain time, after which a third reagent is added. A multicomponent reaction requires the addition of all the reagents at the same time, see for example: Pan, S. C.; List, B. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 1149–1151.
- For reviews see: (a) Arend, M.; Westermann, B.; Risch, N. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1044–1070; (b) Córdova, A. Acc. Chem. Res. 2004, 37, 102–112; (c) Marques, M. M. B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37; Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 348–352.
- (a) List, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 9336–9337; (b) Pojarliev, P.; Biller, W. T.; Martin, H. J.; List, B. Synlett 2003, 1903–1905.
- List, B.; Pojarliev, P.; Biller, W. T.; Martin, H. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 827–833.
- 14. Bahmanyar, S.; Houk, K. N. Org. Lett. **2003**, *5*, 1249–1251
- Mauksch, M.; Tsogoeva, S. B.; Martynova, I. M.; Wei, S. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 393–396.
- Notz, W.; Watanabe, S.-i.; Chowdari, N. S.; Zhong, G.; Betancort, J. M.; Tanaka, F.; Barbas, C. F., III. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2004, 346, 1131–1140.
- (a) Westermann, B.; Neuhaus, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.
 2005, 44, 4077–4079; (b) Enders, D.; Grondal, C.; Vrettou,
 M. Synthesis 2006, 3597–3604; (c) Ibrahem, I.; Zou, W.; Xu,
 Y.; Córdova, A. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2006, 348, 211–222.
- (a) Ibrahem, I.; Casas, J.; Córdova, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.
 2004, 43, 6528–6531; (b) Ibrahem, I.; Zou, W.; Casas, J.;
 Sundén, H.; Córdova, A. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 357–364.
- Chowdari, N. S.; Ramachary, D. B.; Barbas, C. F., III. Synlett 2003, 1906–1909.
- Hayashi, Y.; Tsuboi, W.; Shoji, M.; Suzuki, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 11208–11209.
- (a) Rodríguez, B.; Bolm, C. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 71, 2888–2891; (b) Hosseini, M.; Stiasni, N.; Barbieri, V.; Kappe, C. O. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 1417–1424.
- Kantam, M. L.; Rajasekhar, C. V.; Gopikrishna, G.; Reddy, K. R.; Choudary, B. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2006, 48, 5965– 5967
- 23. Notz, W.; Sakthivel, K.; Bui, T.; Zhong, G.; Barbas, C. F., III *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2001**, *42*, 199–201.
- Enders, D.; Grondal, C.; Vrettou, M.; Raabe, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 4079–4083.
- Ibrahem, I.; Zou, W.; Engqvist, M.; Xu, Y.; Córdova, A. Chem. Eur. J. 2005, 11, 7024–7029.
- Chowdari, N. S.; Ahmad, M.; Albertshofer, K.; Tanaka, F.;
 Barbas, C. F., III. *Org. Lett.* 2006, 8, 2839–2842.
- Sasaoka, A.; Uddin, M. I.; Shimomoto, A.; Ichikawa, Y.; Shiro, M.; Kotsuki, H. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2006, 17, 2963–2969.
- Ramasastry, S. S. V.; Zhang, H.; Tanaka, F.; Barbas, C. F., III. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 288–289.
- (a) Hayashi, Y.; Tsuboi, W.; Ashimine, I.; Urushima, T.; Shoji, M.; Sakai, K. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2003**, *42*, 3677–3680; (b) Córdova, A. *Synlett* **2003**, 1651–1654; (c) Notz, W.; Tanaka, F.; Watanabe, S.-i.; Chowdari, N. S.; Turner, J. M.; Thayumanavan, R.; Barbas, C. F., III. *J. Org. Chem.* **2003**, *68*, 9624–9634.
- (a) Córdova, A. Chem. Eur. J. 2004, 10, 1987–1997; (b) Ibrahem, I.; Córdova, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 2839–2843.

- Hayashi, Y.; Urushima, T.; Shin, M.; Shoji, M. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 11393–11404.
- Liao, W.-W.; Ibrahem, I.; Córdova, A. Chem. Commun. 2006, 674–676.
- 33. For a recent review, see: Tararov, V. I.; Börner, A. *Synlett* **2005**, 203–211.
- Stoter, R. I.; Carrera, D. E.; Ni, Y.; MacMillan, D. W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 84–86.
- Hoffmann, S.; Nicoletti, M.; List, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 13074–13075.
- For reviews, see: (a) Kappe, C. O. Acc. Chem. Res. 2000, 33, 879–888; (b) Kappe, C. O. QSAR Comb. Sci. 2003, 22, 630–645; (c) Aron, Z. D.; Overman, L. E. Chem. Commun. 2004, 253–265.
- 37. Chen, X.-H.; Xu, X.-Y.; Liu, H.; Cun, L.-F.; Gong, L.-Z. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 14802–14803.
- Ramachary, D. B.; Chowdari, N. S.; Barbas, C. F., III. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 4233–4237.
- 39. Ramachary, D. B.; Anebouselvy, K.; Chowdari, N. S.; Barbas, C. F., III. *J. Org. Chem.* **2004**, *69*, 5838–5849.
- Ramachary, D. B.; Barbas, C. F., III. Chem. Eur. J. 2004, 10, 5323–5331.

- 41. Sundén, H.; Ibrahem, I.; Eriksson, L.; Córdova, A. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2005**, *44*, 4877–4880.
- 42. Liu, H.; Cun, L.-F.; Mi, A.-Q.; Jiang, Y.-Z.; Gong, L.-Z. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 6023–6026.
- 43. Komnenos, T. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1883, 218, 145-
- For reviews, see: (a) Rossiter, B. E.; Swingle, N. M. Chem. Rev. 1992, 92, 771–806; (b) Krause, N.; Gerold, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1997, 36, 186–204; (c) Christoffers, J. Chem. Eur. J. 2003, 9, 4862–4867.
- Betancort, J. M.; Sakthivel, K.; Thayumanava, R.; Barbas, C. F., III. Tetrahedron Lett. 2001, 42, 4441–4444.
- Huang, Y.; Walji, A. M.; Larsen, C. H.; MacMillan, D. W. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 15051–15053.
- 47. Marigo, M.; Schulte, T.; Franzén, J.; Jørgensen, K. A. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127*, 15710–15711.
- 48. Enders, D.; Hüttl, M. R. M.; Grondal, C.; Raabe, G. *Nature* **2006**, *441*, 861–863.
- Enders, D.; Hüttl, M. R. M.; Runsink, J.; Raabe, G.; Wendt,
 B. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 467–469.
- Chowdari, N. S.; Ramachary, D. B.; Barbas, C. F., III. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 1685–1688.